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About this report

This Annual Report documents 
Visit Victoria’s activities and 
achievements during the  
2019-20 financial year. Source 
material can be found on  
Visit Victoria’s website at 
corporate.visitvictoria.com.

The Victorian Auditor-General’s 
Office has independently 
audited the financial report and 
concludes that it presents fairly, in 
all material aspects, the financial 
position of Visit Victoria as at  
30 June 2020.

For further information on the 
2019-20 Annual Report, contact 
Visit Victoria on +61 3 9002 2222  
or feedback@visitvictoria.com.au.
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However, this financial year has not been 
without its challenges. Over the summer, 
parts of regional Victoria experienced 
devastating bushfires, followed in quick 
succession by the global coronavirus 
pandemic. Like many other countries 
and cities around the world, our tourism 
industry was one of the hardest hit.

It is a credit to Victoria’s tourism 
operators how well they responded – 
demonstrating resilience and adaptability 
as they found new ways of operating.

At Visit Victoria, we had an important 
role to play to help support our industry 
while also shifting our focus to recovery. 
While it will be some time before tourism 
returns to its pre-2020 levels, we are well 
positioned to welcome visitors back to  
our State.

This year also brought changes for 
our Visit Victoria Board. We farewelled 
outgoing Chair Paul Little AO and 
Directors Chris Barlow and Lyell Strambi. 
I am grateful to Paul, Chris and Lyell for 
their contributions. With deep sadness 
we acknowledged the passing of Wai 
Tang shortly after her resignation from 
the Board. Wai was a valued member 
of our team and she made a significant 
impact on Australia’s tourism and retail 
industries. We also welcomed Janette 
Kendall and Eddie McGuire who bring 
highly relevant experience to our Board.

I am pleased to share Visit Victoria’s  
2019-20 achievements and outcomes  
in this year’s Annual Report. While there 
are challenges ahead, the examples  
of resilience, goodwill and adaptability 
we’ve seen within industry augur well  
for recovery. 

Janet Whiting AM

Chair

The 2019-20 financial year began in a 
position of strength. Visitor expenditure 
reached $32.5 billion by December 2019, 
with Visit Victoria alongside government 
and industry, well on track to achieve 
the Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy 
target of $36.5 billion by 2025. 

Tourism supported more jobs, with a 
total of 263,300 jobs generated in 2018-19 
(latest available figures), representing 
growth of 6.2 per cent compared to  
2017-18 estimates.

We continued to promote Victoria to 
Victorians, with the Your Happy Space 
campaign running from August 2018 to 
December 2019. Attracting the strong 
support of local travellers, the campaign 
led to more than two-thirds of those who 
saw it saying they would be more likely to 
consider visiting regional Victoria.

We collaborated with airlines to 
promote new services, including United 
Airlines on its new service between San 
Francisco and Melbourne, and worked 
with tourism operators in our priority 
markets of Greater China, North 
America, India, Singapore, Malaysia, the 
United Kingdom, Europe, Japan, Korea 
and New Zealand.

Events were a strong drawcard for 
interstate and international visitors, 
while also providing an opportunity to 
showcase Victoria to a global audience. 
Major events highlights included the 
ICC T20 Women’s World Cup, Harry 
Potter and the Cursed Child, Australian 
Open, White Night Melbourne and 
Ballarat events, the Presidents Cup, 
UFC243 and the Cadel Evans Great 
Ocean Road Race.

The Melbourne Convention 
Bureau – a part of Visit Victoria  
–  continued to secure a strong  
pipeline of international business 
events and conferences for Victoria, 
as well as hosting several high-profile 
events including the International 
Society on Thrombosis and 
Haemostasis Congress (ISTH2019), the 
International Convention of Jehovah’s 
Witnesses and the World Engineers 
Convention (WEC2019).

Foreword 
– Chair

Metung
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We focused on supporting the industry 
by keeping Victoria and Melbourne 
top of mind for future travel, while also 
preparing for recovery. We also worked 
closely with our events partners and 
expanded the upcoming calendar of 
major events for 2021-22 and beyond.  
The Melbourne Convention Bureau 
continued to successfully secure  
business events for Victoria, building  
a strong pipeline through to 2025.

I would like to thank Peter Bingeman, 
outgoing Chief Executive Officer, for 
his stewardship of the organisation, 
and welcome Julia Swanson, who was 
appointed Melbourne Convention Bureau 
Chief Executive Officer in October after 
acting in the role for six months.

We are well prepared for the reopening  
of domestic and international travel  
and events, and we look forward to 
welcoming visitors from around the  
globe in the future.

Brendan McClements

Chief Executive Officer

Victoria’s visitor economy has strong 
and sure foundations. Vast and 
varied regions, top attractions, arts, 
and culture, nature and wildlife and 
spectacular events. These are some 
of the reasons that millions of tourists 
make their way to our State each year.

In the 2019-20 financial year, Visit Victoria 
continued to show how we perform as 
a world-leading tourism and events 
body. We created compelling campaigns 
and content for global audiences, 
collaborated closely with Regional 
Tourism Boards to encourage people to 
visit from all corners of our State, and 
delivered a world-class events calendar 
including the Come From Away theatre 
production, the Presidents Cup and the 
Asia Pacific Incentives and Meetings 
Event (AIME) 2020.

Yet often the true test of an 
organisation is how it responds  
to and recovers from adversity.  
Visit Victoria continues to demonstrate 
that we are up to that task following  
the 2019-20 bushfires and the 
coronavirus pandemic. 

Our immediate response to the 
summer bushfires illustrated this  
well. In collaboration with our  
regional partners, we coordinated 
several initiatives to support the 
regions that had been significantly 
impacted. We delivered the community 
FIGHT ON concert performed by 
international superstar Katy Perry in 
Bright, while also securing more than 
280 pledges from organisations across 
Victoria to spend their corporate 
dollars in fire-affected regions. Our 
marketing campaign, A Short Stay 
Goes A Long Way, and associated 
public relations efforts helped to drive 
people into the regions, supporting 
local businesses and jobs.

The global pandemic has changed  
and challenged our industry. But it  
has also called for innovation, agility 
and adaptation. At Visit Victoria,  
we supported the success of these  
new approaches that we will carry 
forward into future activities.  
Our public relations and digital  
efforts, such as Andrew Cotter’s 
brilliant narration of the Phillip Island 
penguin parade, attracted more than 
350 million views across the globe, 
surpassed previous outcomes for 
engagement and data acquisition, 
and strengthened our partnerships 
with Regional Tourism Boards and 
operators right around Victoria.

Foreword 
– CEO

The Murray River, 
Yarrawonga
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About Visit Victoria

Mission

Inspire people to visit Melbourne and 
Victoria through captivating stories  
and amazing events.

Purpose

Ignite and challenge any imagination.

Objective

Visit Victoria’s long-term objective is to 
grow market share and exceed the visitor 
economy target of $36.5 billion in visitor 
spending by 2025 and support more than 
320,700 jobs.

Values

We are brave; We are authentic;  
Promises made, promises kept;  
We win as one; We are results driven.

Organisation structure

Marketing

Inspires and converts visitors to experience 
Melbourne and regional Victoria.

Engages the visitor with inspiring and 
compelling stories at the right time, right 
place, and through the right channels.

• Customer experience
• Product and 

familiarisations
• International markets

• Content innovation  
and production

• Consumer insights
• Marketing technology

Major events

Enhances Victoria’s reputation as Australia’s 
events capital and global events state. 

Converts current and potential strategic 
partners into long-term brand amplifiers  
for Victoria.

• Major event acquisition
• Regional Event Fund 

(REF) and Regional 
Events and Innovation 
Fund (REIF) facilitation

• Strategic partnerships
• Event marketing
• Event management

 Melbourne Convention Bureau (Business events)

Enhances Victoria’s reputation as  
Australia’s events capital and global  
events state.

• Acquisition and delivery 
of national and global 
business events 

• Bids and business 
development across key 
government priorities

• Partnerships and events
• Marketing and 

communications
• Research and insights
• Convention services

Corporate services

Ensures a compliant and sustainable 
organisation by identifying and implementing 
best practice financial, legal and IT services 
across the business.

• Finance
• Risk management
• Legal

• Procurement
• Information technology 

support

Office of the Chief Executive

Leads innovative and creative strategies 
together with industry and government  
to drive growth in the visitor economy.

Corporate Affairs 

• Government relations
• Corporate reporting

• Corporate 
communications

Connects and collaborates with Regional 
Tourism Boards to elevate the promotion  
of regional Victoria to drive higher yield  
and length of stay.

Regional tourism and strategy

• Regional Tourism Board 
engagement and funding

• Visitor Information 
Services Strategy

• Regional stakeholder 
engagement and 
advocacy

Provides meaningful careers in a purpose-
driven and values-led organisation.

People

• Recruitment
• Career development

• Employee relations
• Workplace safety

Bendigo Art Gallery
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Our people 

Visit Victoria’s commitment to 
creating a high-performance 
culture that delivers optimal 
outcomes for Victoria’s tourism 
industry continued in 2019-2020. 

Significant initiatives

• Achieved Fair Work Australia’s 
approval for Visit Victoria’s 
Enterprise Agreement 2019 in 
January 2020. Visit Victoria has 
updated systems and policies 
to reflect new changes, and is 
awaiting the results of KPMG’s 
audit of compliance with the  
new agreement. 

• Developed cross-skilling 
opportunities within the 
organisation to develop an 
agile workforce that is capable 
of responding to the ongoing 
challenges posed by the  
bushfires and coronavirus 
(COVID-19) pandemic.

• Implemented a working from 
home operating model from 
March 2020, to respond to 
COVID-19 and comply with 
Government advice. Support 
for team members included 
providing equipment, applying 
occupational health and safety 
checklists, and encouraging new 
team operating models. 

• Maintained continued focus 
on leadership, performance, 
capability and culture throughout 
this challenging period,  
including continuing to build  
upon existing activities hosted  
by the Culture Club (Visit 
Victoria’s internal working  
group to improve organisational 
culture) and introduce new ways 
to engage employees.

Workforce data

ONGOING EMPLOYEES

Employee  
headcount 

International, fixed 
term and casual  

employees

Total  
employees

Full-time 
ongoing 

headcount

Part-time 
ongoing 

headcount

Total  
ongoing 

headcount 

Total  
ongoing 

FTE*
Total FTE* Total FTE*

Year ending 
June 2019

123* 13 136 104.30 50.4 154.7*

Year ending 
June 2020

93 8 101 98.2 63.7 161.9

* FTE = Full Time Equivalent

GENDER

Gender Total  
employees

Ongoing  
employees

Fixed term and  
casual employees

Total FTE

Headcount FTE FTE
Year ending  
June 2020

Male 42 41.4 13 54.4

Female 59 56.8 32.7 89.5

LEADERSHIP TEAM

Male Variance 
from  

2018-2019

Female Variance 
from  

2018-2019

Current 
vacancies

Variance 
from  

2018-2019

GSERP* 3 0 1 -1 1 0

Non-GSERP 1 -1 1 0 1 1

* GSERP – Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel
Hosier Lane, Melbourne
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Output targets and performance

Performance indicator
Unit of   
measure

Quantity, 
quality,  
timeliness

2019-20 
Target

2019-20 
Actual

Performance
variation

1. Major sporting and cultural 
events facilitated

Number Quantity 18 19 +5.6%

2. Total engaged digital audience Number 
(million)

Quantity 5.4 5.0 -7.4%

3. Visitor expenditure (domestic) * $ billion Quantity 20.6 23.2 +12.6%

4. Visitor expenditure 
(international) *

$ billion Quantity 8.7 8.1 -6.9%

5. Visitor expenditure in regional 
Victoria (domestic) * 

$ billion Quantity 9.9 11.3 +14.1%

6. Visitor expenditure in regional 
Victoria (international) * 

$ million Quantity 580 538 -7.2%

7. Visitor expenditure: regional 
Victoria (intrastate overnight) *

$ billion Quantity 5.1 5.8 +13.7%

8. Number of overnight visitors 
(domestic) *

number 
(million)

Quantity 26.0 28.3 +8.8%

9. Number of visitors 
(international) *

number 
(million)

Quantity 3.2 2.8 -12.5%

10. Visitors: regional Victoria 
(intrastate overnight) *

number 
(million)

Quantity 14.1 15.6 +10.6

11. Value of media generated: 
domestic

$ million Quantity 22 39 +77.3%

12. Value of media generated: 
international

$ million Quantity 46 52 +13.0%

13. Completion of post-event 
reports and economic impact 
assessments of each event 
within agreed timeframes

Per cent Timeliness 100 100 0%

*  year ending March 2020

Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy 2025 target 

VISITOR EXPENDITURE

Visitor expenditure  
– year ending March 2020 
(four quarters rolling annual)

Visitor expenditure target 
– year ending June 2025 Comments

$31.3 billion $36.5 billion

Total tourism expenditure in Victoria 
reached $31.3 billion in the year ending 
March 2020, representing an increase 
of 4.4 percent year-on-year. This 
equates to growth of 8.4 per cent per 
annum over the last five years or an 
additional $10.4 billion in visitor spend.

Domestic overnight tourism in Victoria 
showed solid growth for the year ending 
March 2020. However, indicators for 
the March quarter 2020 show declines 
across key measures compared to 
the same period last year due to the 
impacts of the summer bushfires and 
the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 

The coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak 
also had a significant impact on key 
international measures in the latest 
year ending March 2020 results. 

JOBS

Jobs current  
– for 2018/19

Jobs target  
– year ending June 2025 Growth rate

263,300 jobs 320,700 jobs

In total, tourism generated 263,300 
jobs in 2018- 19, representing growth 
of 6.2 per cent compared to revised 
2017-18 estimates. Tourism’s share  
of employment in Victoria has grown 
from 6.6 percent in 2013-14 to  
7.8 per cent in 2018-19.

Employment in the tourism industry 
is growing at a rate faster than 
employment in the Victorian 
State economy overall (with state 
employment growth of 3.1 per cent  
per annum between 2013-14 and  
2018-19 compared to tourism 
employment growth of 6.7 per cent 
per annum over the same period).



16   VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2019-20 VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2019-20   17   

Table commentary

1. Higher result as the forecasted target was based on 
secured and potential events at the time of reporting, 
and Visit Victoria was able to facilitate an additional 
event in 2019-20. 

2. Lower result due to the impact of coronavirus 
(COVID-19), travel restrictions and no Visit Victoria 
paid media activity. 

3. Higher result due to growth in total domestic 
expenditure in Victoria following a strong 2019 
calendar year (and shift to 100 per cent mobile phone 
interviewing from January 2019 which had an upward 
influence on survey results). This is the latest available 
data to March 2020 from the National Visitor Survey 
published in July 2020. 

4. Lower result due to the impact of coronavirus 
(COVID-19) and associated restrictions on 
international travel. This is the latest available data 
to March 2020 from the International Visitor Survey 
published in July 2020. 

5. Higher result due to growth in total domestic 
expenditure in regional Victoria following a strong 
2019 calendar year (and shift to 100 per cent mobile 
phone interviewing from January 2019 which had an 
upward influence on survey results). This is the latest 
available data to March 2020 from the National Visitor 
Survey published in July 2020.  

6. Lower result due to the impact of coronavirus 
(COVID-19) and associated restrictions on 
international travel. This is the latest available data 
to March 2020 from the International Visitor Survey 
published in July 2020.

7. Higher result due to growth in intrastate overnight 
expenditure in regional Victoria following a strong 
2019 calendar year (and shift to 100 per cent mobile 
phone interviewing from January 2019 which had an 
upward influence on survey results). This is the latest 
available data to March 2020 from the National Visitor 
Survey published in July 2020.

8. Higher result due to growth in domestic overnight 
visitor trips in Victoria, following a strong 2019 
calendar year (and shift to 100 per cent mobile phone 
interviewing from January 2019 which had an upward 
influence on survey results). This is the latest available 
data to March 2020 from the National Visitor Survey 
published in July 2020.

9. Lower result due to the impact of coronavirus 
(COVID-19) and associated restrictions on 
international travel. This is the latest available data 
to March 2020 from the International Visitor Survey 
published in July 2020. 

10. Higher result due to growth on intrastate overnight 
visitors in regional Victoria, following a strong 2019 
calendar year (and shift to 100 percent mobile phone 
interviewing from January 2019 which had an upward 
influence on survey results). This is the latest available 
data to March 2020 from the National Visitor Survey 
published in July 2020.

11. Higher result due to the promotion of a number of 
activities, including Katy Perry’s bushfire concert in 
Bright, Visit Victoria’s Wine Down Pop Up initiative and 
the ICC Women’s Final T20 Cricket World Cup. 

12. Higher result due to virtual experiences of Victoria 
through digital channels, including the Phillip Island 
penguin parade narration by Andrew Cotter. 

Halls Gap
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White Night Ballarat

Historic Ballarat was the perfect 
canvas for projections, installations, 
performances and music, when  
artists took over the buildings, streets  
and laneways for one magical night  
in September.

More than 40,000 people braved the 
chilly conditions to immerse themselves in 
dozens of local, national and international 
artistic works. Funded through the Major 
Events Fund, the event boasted works 
as diverse as local acoustic duo North 
Kilt Town, one of the world’s best aerial 
artists floating through the streets, and 
a truly moving projection featuring 
the voices of Aboriginal Victorians and 
showcasing artwork by local Wathaurung 
(Wadawarrung) Elder, Marlene Gilson.

Bollywood comes  
to Melbourne

Visit Victoria’s successful partnership 
with the India Film Festival of Melbourne 
combined the star power of Bollywood 
with the appeal of Melbourne’s laneways 
to create a hugely successful campaign  
in one of Victoria’s largest tourist markets. 

Pictures of the ‘King of Bollywood’,  
Shah Rukh Khan and two other celebrities 
exploring Melbourne’s signature 
experiences reached more than 37 million 
people, with their visit attracting broad 
coverage across Indian print and  
digital media.  

Quarter One
July to September 2019

Visit Victoria – and Victoria’s tourism 
industry – kicked off the 2019-20 year 
strongly, achieving great results across 
all activities and delivering some of the 
State’s most memorable events and 
experiences to visitors from across the 
country and the globe. 

Come from Away

Victoria continued to shine as Australia’s 
leading arts and culture destination, with 
smash hit Come from Away following 
closely in the footsteps of last year’s Harry 
Potter and the Cursed Child success.

Staged in Melbourne’s newly refurbished 
Comedy Theatre, and facilitated through 
the Major Events Fund, the heart-
warming, toe-tapping show was voted 
Ticketmaster’s ‘Ticket of the Year’ for  
2019 by fans.

The season was extended three times: 
attracting audiences from around 
Australia, playing to capacity houses each 
night and breaking the record for the 
most successful musical in the Comedy 
Theatre’s 91-year history.

Key Activities

Come From Away

White Night Ballarat

‘King of Bollywood’, Shah Rukh
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The International Society on 
Thrombosis and Haemostasis 
Congress (ISTH 2019)

The Melbourne Convention Bureau 
(MCB) led the acquisition and delivery of 
national and global business events for 
Victoria, partnering with key government 
entities, national associations and more 
than 170 private enterprise members.

One of these events was the 27th ISTH 
congress in Melbourne in July 2019 
which saw more than 2,500 clinicians, 
researchers and educators committed 
to improving patient care in thrombosis, 
haemostasis and vascular biology. 
Delegates were presented with  
the newest advances, and discussed the 
latest science and clinical applications. 

These specialists were some of  
26,336 delegates who attended  
59 events delivered by MCB, contributing 
$144.4 million to the Victorian economy 
in the first quarter of 2019-20.

White Night Reimagined

A record-breaking crowd of 
718,000 visitors traversed three of 
Melbourne’s iconic park precincts over 
three nights, to revel in the sights, sounds 
and experiences of Melbourne’s White 
Night Reimagined.

Its shift from summer to winter, and 
extension from one night to three, brought 
a new atmosphere to the event. From 
breathtaking physical feats performed by 
internationally acclaimed acrobats and 
aerial performers at Birrarung Marr, to 
the captivation of the senses in Treasury 
Gardens, to the mystical 10-metre tall 
Guardian lion puppet sauntering through 
the spiritual realm in Carlton Gardens, 
visitors were immersed in a series of 
unforgettable experiences. 

Supported by Victoria’s Major Events 
Fund, White Night Melbourne Reimagined 
was the spectacular seventh and final 
instalment of the event, which has been  
a landmark on our cultural calendar  
since 2013.

Making the most of digital opportunities

Visit Victoria continued to enhance its digital capability, entering into multi-year data sharing 
marketing partnership with Singapore Airlines, collaborating with Tourism Australia to amplify joint 
targeted promotions to international visitors, and working with Regional Tourism Boards to improve 
their digital reach and performance.

In quarter one, the Melbourne Convention Bureau also received global accolades for its Melbourne 
Virtual Site Visit, winning the ‘Best Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality or Mixed Reality Experience’ 
award at the Skift Global Forum in New York for its advanced virtual reality immersive experience. 
The virtual site visit showcases Melbourne and Victoria as a leading business events destination.

 White Night Reimagined  White Night Reimagined

UK & Europe Sales Mission

Visit Victoria’s 2019 UK & Europe Sales 
Mission brought together 12 of Victoria’s 
tourism partners to deliver an interactive 
and authentic training approach to  
the European market.  

Around 300 travel agents were trained 
across seven cities in the UK, Northern 
Europe and Continental Europe, and 45 
one-on-one meetings held with leading 
key distribution operators. The successful 
long-term trade relationships to boost the 
presence and influence of Melbourne and  
Victoria in the region. 

Geelong bollards 

Using digital technology to enhance  
the visitor experience, Visit Victoria  
supported a new augmented reality  
app Activate Geelong, which brings  
to life iconic features on the popular  
bollard walking trail.
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$31.6b
Visitor expenditure* 
(June 2025 target $36.5b)

50,587
Room nights from business 
events secured YTD  
(37% of June 2020 target)

69,190
Room nights from  
business events held

263,300**
Jobs*  
(June 2025 target 320,700)

17,929
Delegates expected to 
business events secured YTD  
(34% of June 2020 target) 

26,336 
Number of delegates in 
attendance at business 
events held

$105.5m
Forecast economic impact 
of business events secured YTD 
(35% of June 2020 target)

5.1m
Engaged digital audience  
(June 2020 target 5.4m) 

$5.1m
Value of domestic  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $22 million) 

102m
Social media  
impressions

$144.4m
Economic impact of  
business events held 

Visit Victoria facilitated seven major 
events as part of the Major Events Fund 
(YTD 7 against target 18 for the year):

• Helpmann Awards

• Come From Away (continued until Q3)

• White Night Melbourne Reimagined

• Boomers vs USA Basketball

• Melbourne Esports Open

• White Night Ballarat

• Harry Potter and the Cursed Child 
(continued until Q3)

Visit Victoria secured three major events 
as part of the Major Events Fund:

• Rising Festival

• Melbourne Winter Masterpieces  
– Pierre Bonnard

• UFC 243

Seven events were funded as part  
of the Regional Events Fund.

MCB secured 11 international  
business events, including: 

• Annual Meeting of the Asia Oceania 
Geosciences Society 2022 – 2,000 
delegates with 5,625 room nights

• CODA – 2,000 delegates with 11,250 
room nights (postponed, date to  
be confirmed)

* rolling annual result across previous  
four quarters

** as at 2018/19

$8.8m
Value of international  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $46 million) 

65.7
Thousand new  
social media followers

Key Results 
Quarter 1 - July to September 2019 

35%

34% 37%

25% 25%

Boomers vs USA, Marvel Stadium
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Your Happy Space

Continuing to promote Victoria to 
Victorians, the Your Happy Space 
campaign – which ran from August 
2018 to December 2019 – attracted  
the strong support of local travellers 
and Regional Tourism Boards across 
the state.

Attracting more than 4.9 million views 
of its digital content, the campaign 
led more than two-thirds of those who 
saw it to be more likely to consider 
visiting regional Victoria. It was also 
a great example of Visit Victoria’s 
commitment to collaboration: Your 
Happy Space was well received by 
regional partners, generating stronger 
awareness and more opportunities for 
local businesses. 

United Airlines boost flights  
to Melbourne

In late October, United Airlines 
launched a new service between  
San Francisco and Melbourne. 
Operating three times a week using 
a Boeing 787-9 aircraft, the service 
connects Victoria with more than  
70 destinations across North America 
via United’s San Francisco hub.  Visit 
Victoria collaborated with United 
Airlines to promote the new service 
– including through out of home 
advertising, a social media campaign 
and promotion to United’s frequent 
flyer database. 

UFC243

The UFC243 – a UFC Middleweight 
Championship Unification event 
facilitated by the Major Events Fund – 
set a new record for crowd attendance 
at a mixed martial arts event. 

Marvel Stadium hosted 57,000 fans 
to see the bout between Robert 
Whittaker and Israel Adesanya.   
The event also provided Victoria  
with significant international 
broadcast opportunities, and strong 
social media engagement.

A Twist at Every Turn

Interstate audience recognition  
and intention to act on Visit  
Victoria’s campaign, A Twist at  
Every Turn continued to build, after 
two successful years in market. 

With an estimated reach of more than 
3.6 million Australians, the campaign 
evoked positive emotions with 
viewers across the nation, positioning 
Melbourne as a fun, exciting 
destination filled with inspiring and 
eclectic sights and experiences. 

Quarter Two
October to December 2019

Victorian tourism’s – and Visit Victoria’s 
– solid performance continued into 
quarter two, with a full suite of events 
and activities illustrating the underlying 
depth and competitiveness of the State’s 
brand with domestic and international 
visitors.

Presidents Cup

Attracting national and international 
attention, the staging of the 2019 
Presidents Cup in December was  
the result of a strong collaboration 
across Visit Victoria that included the 
Major Events, Marketing and Public 
Relations teams.

Key Activities

Returning to Victoria for the third time 
in its 25-year history – with Melbourne 
the only city outside the US to have 
hosted the event more than once – 
the event attracted worldwide media 
interest, showcasing our State to an 
international audience.

Despite holding the lead for most 
of the four-day tournament, the 
Internationals (including Australia) 
conceded the crown to the US team in 
the last hours – although took some 
consolation from hearing their premier 
course described by participants as 
one of the world’s best.

Presidents Cup

Your Happy Space campaign
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Corroboree West

Visit Victoria and 16 Victorian tourism 
operators attended Tourism Australia’s 
trade event, Corroboree West, in Perth  
in October. 

Involving both tourism product training 
workshops and familiarisations, 
Corroboree West was targeted 
exclusively at Australian Specialists. 
Operators met with 300 selected 
frontline travel sellers from the United 
Kingdom, Europe, the US, Canada and 
New Zealand. 

More than 80 delegates then flew 
to Victoria for a series of five-day 
familiarisations, gathering inspiration 
and knowledge to sell more trips to 
Victoria and increase visitor nights  
and expenditure.

2019 International Convention 
of Jehovah’s Witnesses 

Around 46,500 Jehovah’s Witnesses 
arrived in Melbourne in November 2019 
to attend a three-day conference at 
Marvel Stadium. A quarter of attendees 
visited some of the State’s most 
popular regional attractions – including 
the Yarra Valley and Mornington 
and Bellarine Peninsulas – as part of 
the event’s pre-convention touring 
program, providing a significant boost 
to regional economies. This was one of 
ten international conferences hosted in 
Victoria in quarter two.

World Engineers Convention

Another significant business event in 
November was the World Engineers 
Convention, which took place 
over three days at the Melbourne 
Convention and Exhibition Centre.  
More than 2,000 delegates from more 
than 70 countries took part in pre- and 
post-convention activities ranging from 
technical tours of Melbourne’s great 
universities to Great Ocean Road tours. 
The event provided a great opportunity 
for Victoria to showcase its local 
engineering capability across a range 
of sectors, including defence  
and construction.

Team Victoria at Corroboree West

Sailors Grave Brewing  
& Skull Rock

Visit Victoria’s ground-breaking 
collaboration with East Gippsland 
brewer Sailors Grave Brewing, adventure 
operator Pennicott Wilderness Journeys 
and local outfit Rayn Creative celebrated 
the wild and unique beauty of the islands 
off Wilsons Promontory by combining 
great beer with cutting edge technology.

The project launched a beer inspired  
by Gippsland, featuring locally grown 
malt and indigenous pigface and native 
river mint. However, the real innovation 
came outside the can, pointing a smart 
phone at the label would bring the story 
of the island of Skull Rock to life  
in Australia’s first augmented reality 
tourism promotion. 

Developed to launch Pennicott’s new  
eco-tour of the island, the innovation  
was supported with a group 
familiarisation tour for media. 

Pennicott Wilderness Journeys
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89,373
Room nights from business 
events secured YTD  
(65% of June 2020 target)

64,620
Room nights from  
business events held

34,249
Delegates expected to 
business events secured YTD  
(65% of June 2020 target) 

262,088
Number of delegates in 
attendance at business 
events held

$182.9m
Forecast economic impact 
of business events secured YTD 
(61% of June 2020 target)

$139.4m
Economic impact of  
business events held 

Visit Victoria facilitated an additional four 
major events as part of the Major Events 
Fund (YTD 11 against target 18 for the year):

• UFC243

• Aus-X Open 

• World Sailing Championships

• Come From Away (continued until Q3)

• Harry Potter and the Cursed Child 
(continued until Q3)

• Presidents Cup

Visit Victoria secured one major event, 
the renewal of the Australian Open as  
part of the Major Events Fund.

Thirteen events were funded as part  
of the Regional Event Fund,

MCB secured eight international business 
events, including:

• World Scholar’s Cup Global Round 2022 
– 2,000 delegates with 9,000  
room nights

• International Trade Union Confederation 
World Congress (ITUC) 2022 – 1,150 
delegates with 4,250 room nights

* rolling annual result across previous  
four quarters

** as at 2018/19

$32.5b
Visitor expenditure* 
(June 2025 target $36.5b)

263,300**
Jobs*  
(June 2025 target 320,700)

5.3m
Engaged digital audience  
(June 2020 target 5.4m) 

$11m
Value of domestic  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $22 million) 

126m
Social media  
impressions

Key Results 
Quarter 2 - October to December 2019 

$21m
Value of international  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $46 million) 

53.3
Thousand new  
social media followers

Forecast economic impact 
of business events secured YTD 
(of June 2020 target)

61%

65% 65%

50% 50%

AUS-X Open
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Asiana and Doosan Bears 
connect Korea and Melbourne

In late 2019, Asiana Airlines started a 
new direct Seoul to Melbourne charter 
service, connecting Korea and Victoria 
for the first time in nearly seven years.  

Visit Victoria collaborated with the 
airline and partners in Korea and 
Victoria to deliver nine services to 
Victoria, including flying the Doosan 
Bears baseball team to Australia in 
January. The Bears trained in Geelong 
and played a game against Australia, 
which was broadcast to more than 
three million Korean viewers.  

 The Asia Pacific Incentives  
and Meetings Event (AIME)

Over four days in February, Melbourne 
hosted the Asia Pacific region’s  
leading trade event for the meetings 
and event industry, attracting more 
than 4,000 attendees (including 
hosted buyers, exhibitors, and visitors) 
from 38 different countries. 

More than 14,000 business meetings 
between exhibitors and suppliers 
were held across the four days, 
generating around $100 million in 
business transactions. MCB facilitated 
14 Uncover Melbourne familiarisation 
tours for hosted buyers and media, 
with a gala event for 400 guests at the 
State Library. 

Owned by MCB, AIME is a key 
contributor to local economic activity 
and is integral to the MCB partnership 
model. AIME was named best trade 
show in the 2019 Exhibition and Event 
Association Australasia (EEAA) Awards.

Quarter Three
January to March 2020

Devastating bushfires across Australia’s 
east coast disrupted lives and economic 
activity across the regions in January 
2020. Visit Victoria’s recovery support 
efforts swung into action immediately, 
and the outcomes highlight the 
underlying strength, resilience and 
ingenuity of Victoria’s tourism industry.

Katy Perry FIGHT ON concert

In recognition of the incredible efforts of 
Victoria’s regions in responding to and 
recovering from the fires, international 
superstar Katy Perry visited Bright to  
play a benefit concert in a beautiful  
bush setting in March.

Key Activities

Organised in weeks through an 
incredible collaboration between 
Visit Victoria, local tourism and event 
operators and Regional Tourism 
Boards, the concert attracted 7000 
fans, including emergency service 
personnel and communities impacted 
by the fires in Victoria’s north east. 
Partners in the event included the ICC 
T20 World Cup, TEGDainty, 160over90, 
Ticketek and the Brighter Days Festival.

As well as providing a much-needed 
night of fun for the community, the 
FIGHT ON concert firmly reminded 
Australia and the rest of the world that 
regional Victoria was recovering and 
open for business.

Mad March

The Sunday Herald Sun got behind  
the State’s recovery efforts with a  
full-colour front page featuring a  
jam-packed calendar of blockbuster  
major events across March. 

Katy Perry FIGHT ON concert

Doosan Bears
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Wine Down Pop Up

Demand for the event was strong, 
achieving a 97 per cent occupancy rate 
comprising 94 per cent Victorian visitors, 
including 76 per cent from Melbourne. 
Public relations outcomes exceeded 
expectations, delivering an advertising 
value equivalent of $2.4 million against  
a $750,000 target.

Supporting the recovery  
of regional Victoria

Visit Victoria demonstrated its capability 
and agility in our bushfire recovery 
response, launching a new campaign, 
pivoting the Regional Event Fund to a 
recovery focus, and securing hundreds 
of corporate pledges to visit regional 
Victoria in the immediate wake of the 
January bushfires. These activities 
generated impressive results before  
being halted by the coronavirus 
pandemic in March. 

New campaign, A Short Stay Goes  
A Long Way, attracted high levels of 
recognition and likeability, with a peak  
of prompted recognition at 37 per cent. 
More than 79 per cent of those who saw 
the campaign indicated an intention  
to visit regional Victoria. 

In response to the bushfires, Visit 
Victoria immediately activated a 
comprehensive PR strategy, with a 
series of Today Show regional weather 
crosses and an outside broadcast 
by 3AW. These activities – which met 
with extremely positive feedback from 
local stakeholders – were overlaid 
with individual media familiarisations 
to bushfire affected regions and 
major features in varied publications 
including Australian Geographic, the 
Weekend Australian, Escape, Vogue 
and Broadsheet.

More than 230 Victorian organisations 
pledged multi-day visits – including 
conferences, meetings and events  
– to regional Victoria in the wake of the 
bushfires. A dedicated Visit Victoria 
team confirmed pledges from the AFL 
and Victorian clubs, NAB, Herald and 
Weekly Times, Cricket Australia, Crown, 
Ernst & Young, Swisse, PwC, Bosch 
Australia and Australian Super. 

ICC Women’s T20  
Cricket World Cup 

ICC Women’s T20 Cricket  
World Cup 

As one of the official host cities for the 
ICC Women’s T20 Cricket World Cup, 
Melbourne presented six matches across 
two venues, five at Junction Oval and 
the final at the MCG on International 
Women’s Day, 8 March 2020.

The final, which saw Australia overcome 
India by 85 runs, broke several records. 
With a crowd of 86,174 it was the 
highest attendance for an Australian 
women’s sporting fixture, the second 
highest attendance for a women’s sport 
match globally and the most attended 
women’s cricket match. Sixty per cent 
of spectators were attending their first 
professional women’s T20 match.

The final also become the most watched 
women’s cricket match in Australian 
broadcast history. It also had record 
digital reach, with 1.1 billion video views 
across the ICC’s digital channels, making 
it the most watched women’s cricket 
event and the second most successful 
ICC event after the ICC Men’s Cricket 
World Cup 2019.

The event was recognised as a standout 
at the 2020 Australian Event Awards, 
winning top honour ‘Australian Event of 
the Year’, as well as the country’s ‘Best 
Sporting Event’.

The final also created an incredible 
opportunity to promote Victoria to  
one of the globe’s biggest tourism 
markets: India.

Teams across Visit Victoria worked in 
partnership with Tourism Australia to 
deliver a range of activities and events 
designed to bolster the state’s strong 
position as a destination of choice. 
These included a familiarisation tour 
involving 12 delegates, touring key 
opinion leaders from Bollywood, cricket 
and the media around Melbourne and 
regional Victoria, collaborating with 
T20 to share audience data and drive 
ticket sales, and promoting content 
through digital and social platforms. 

Wine Down Pop Up 2.0

Following on from the enormous 
success of the first iteration of Wine 
Down Pop Up in 2019, Wine Down Pop 
Up 2.0 ran from February to March 
2020 at Seville Estate before the 
pandemic halted the campaign. 

Guests enjoyed a night in a beautifully 
crafted, portable eco-luxury pod in  
one of Victoria’s premier wineries, 
a taste of the region minibar and 
breakfast hamper, and an experience 
of fine wine and matched foods, 
accompanied by a bespoke virtual 
reality experience which profiled 
Victoria’s Five Wine Pillars.
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97,221
Room nights from business 
events secured YTD  
(71% of June 2020 target)

8,061
Room nights from  
business events held

43,272
Delegates expected to 
business events secured YTD  
(82% of June 2020 target) 

6,851
Number of delegates in 
attendance at business 
events held

$213m
Forecast economic impact 
of business events secured YTD 
(71% of June 2020 target)

$27.5m
Economic impact of  
business events held 

Visit Victoria facilitated an additional eight 
major events as part of the Major Events 
Fund (YTD 19 against target 18 for the year): 

• Festival of Sails

• Australian Open

• Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road Race

• Jayco Herald Sun Tour

• FIG Individual Apparatus World Cup

• FIM Superbike World Championship

• ICC Women’s T20 World Cup

• Virgin Australia Melbourne  
Fashion Week

• Come From Away (continued until Q3)

• Harry Potter and the Cursed Child 
(continued until Q3)

Scheduled for March 2020, Melbourne  
Food and Wine Festival was cancelled  
due to COVID-19 restrictions.

Visit Victoria secured one major event  
as part of the Major Events Fund:

• The renewal of the Melbourne Food  
and Wine Festival

Ten events were funded as part of  
the Bushfire Recovery Round of the 
Regional Event Fund.

MCB secured nine international 
business events, including:

• Harm Reduction International  
Conference 2021 – 1,000 delegates  
with 3,000 room nights 

• International Joint Conference  
on Pervasive and Ubiquitous  
Computing 2022– 600 delegates  
with 2,250 room nights

* rolling annual result across previous  
four quarters

** as at 2018/19

$31.3b
Visitor expenditure* 
(June 2025 target $36.5b)

263,300**
Jobs*  
(June 2025 target 320,700)

5.5m
Engaged digital audience  
(June 2020 target 5.4m) 

$33.8m
Value of domestic  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $22 million) 

127m
Social media  
impressions

Key Results 
Quarter 3 - January to March 2020 

$43.3m
Value of international  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $46 million) 

18.5
Thousand new  
social media followers

71%

82% 71%

75% 75%

Virgin Australia Melbourne  
Fashion Festival 2020 
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Quarter Four
April to June 2020

2020 dealt a further blow to Victorian 
and international tourism with the 
global pandemic declared in March. 
Visit Victoria’s focus immediately turned 
to supporting local industry efforts to 
prepare for post-pandemic recovery, and 
maintaining the strong Victorian tourism 
brand around Australia and the world. 

Penguins on parade

Exemplifying Visit Victoria’s effort to 
keep Victoria top of mind for future travel 
by moving beyond engagement and 
into entertainment was the enormously 
successful narration of Phillip Island’s 
penguin parade by lockdown hero 
Andrew Cotter.

Key Activities

Preparing for reopening

Visit Victoria worked closely with 
Regional Tourism Boards, tourism 
operators and local businesses to 
ensure they are well positioned to 
recover when restrictions ease and 
travel resumes. 

Fees have been removed for 6,500 new 
and renewed listings on the Australian 
Tourism Data Warehouse, with the team 
working closely with operators to update 
and refresh their content and prepare 
to reopen with COVID-safe business 
accreditation when it is safe to do so. 

Training for more than 6,000 key 
destination partners and Australian 
specialists around the world has also 
continued in partnership with Tourism 
Australia, to ensure that our great local 
providers are top of mind when people 
start to travel again. 

The Major Events team and MCB have 
focused strong effort on developing 
the post-2021 pipeline of events and 
conventions, providing a strong 
foundation for future economic  
activity and recovery. 

Delegate Destination site

In response to the coronavirus 
pandemic, MCB significantly 
reorganised its digital delivery of 
products and services to support 
international bids, so that professional 
event organisers and incentive 
planners can plan future events in 
Melbourne with confidence. This 
included the development of virtual 
site visits, improved digital bid 
books, destination training webinars, 
delegate boosting kits and the launch 
of a new Delegate Destination Site.

The Delegate Destination Site  
makes it simpler for event organisers 
to create memorable business 
events and promote Melbourne and 
Victoria to delegates attending future 
meetings. It offers plentiful destination 
content, including virtual support and 
other resources to help organisers 
maximise delegate engagement with 
everything on offer in Melbourne and 
around Victoria.

This 75-second slice of joy in the 
dark days of May reached more than 
350 million people around the world, 
generating coverage on the BBC, 
The Guardian and a host of other 
international publications.

Pairing Visit Victoria’s reach with the 
great content available from venues  
as diverse as Lego Land, the Melbourne 
Aquarium and the Mildura Arts Centre 
has generated more than 100 live 
streams showcasing 70 separate 
destinations and businesses. 

The engagement, data acquisition 
and retargeting outcomes achieved 
guarantee that Visit Victoria will 
continue initiatives like these even  
after tourism resumes. 

High Country at Home

Visit Victoria supported and promoted  
Tourism North East’s High Country at  
Home initiative, which brought some  
of the area’s best food and drinks direct  
to the consumer. Marrying online  
masterclasses and courses with  
home-delivered event packs, the  
program was a shining example of grit  
and ingenuity in the face of unprecedented  
challenge to the tourism industry. 

Little Penguins, Phillip Island

Delegate Destination site
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105,636
Room nights from business 
events secured YTD  
(77% of June 2020 target)

48,422
Delegates expected to 
business events secured YTD  
(91% of June 2020 target) 

$234.3m
Forecast economic impact 
of business events secured YTD 
(78% of June 2020 target)

Visit Victoria delivered a total of 19 
major events for 2019-20, exceeding its 
target of 18 events for 2019-20. However, 
in quarter four, the organisation was 
unable to facilitate any major events 
through the Major Events Fund due 
to the coronavirus pandemic, with 
restrictions leading to events being 
postponed or cancelled, including:

• Rip Curl Pro

• Melbourne Winter Masterpieces – 
Pierre Bonnard (postponed to 2023)

There were no regional events  
funded in quarter four due to the 
restrictions in place as a result of  
the COVID-19 pandemic. 

MCB secured six international  
business events, including: 

• International Conference on  
Social Work in Health and Mental 
Health 2022 – 600 delegates with  
2,250 room nights

• International Society for the Study of 
Trauma and Dissociation Regional 
Conference 2021 – 250 delegates with 
564 room nights 

* rolling annual result across previous four 
quarters, as at year ending March 2020

** as at 2018/19

$31.3b
Visitor expenditure* 
(June 2025 target $36.5b)

263,300**
Jobs*  
(June 2025 target 320,700)

5.0m
Engaged digital audience  
(June 2020 target 5.4m) 

$39m
Value of domestic  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $22 million) 

41m
Social media  
impressions

Key Results 
Quarter 4 - April to June 2020 

$52m
Value of international  
media generated YTD 
(June 2020 target $46 million) 

7.4
Thousand new  
social media followers

100% 100%

78%

91% 77%

Trentham Falls
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270 for the year end 30 June 2020

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270 for the year end 30 June 2020

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of the trading entity Visit Victoria  
Limited (the Company), and of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its trading subsidiary  
Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the Auditor’s Report thereon.

1.  Directors

Director details:

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name and
independence status

Experience, special responsibilities  
and other directorships

Paul Little AO 

Independent  
Non- Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016, resigned 10 September 2019

Appointed Chairman 22 February 2017, Remuneration Committee Chairman

Founder and Chairman of the Little Group and Skalata Ventures

Janet Whiting AM

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016

Appointed Chair 10 September 2019

Partner of Gilbert & Tobin, President of NGV Council of Trustees, Council 
member of Newman College and Patron, Stephanie Alexander Kitchen  
Garden Foundation

Chris Barlow

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016, resigned 28 February 2020

Remuneration Committee Member

Former Chairman of Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd, Chairman Airport 
Development Group, Board member Australian Rail Track Corporation, 
Director IFM Investors

Peter Crinis

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016

Chief Operating Officer Crown Hotels. Board member, Tourism 
Accommodation Australia. Board member and Chair, Melbourne Convention 
Bureau. Member & Director, Children’s Cancer Foundation

Helen Moran

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Audit & Risk Committee member

Common Board Member Mount Buller & Mount Stirling Alpine Resort 
Management Board  Falls Creek Alpine Resort Management Board, 

Mount Hotham Alpine Resort Management Board

Sara Quon

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Audit & Risk Committee member

Chief Executive Officer Sovereign Hill, Executive Committee Member and 
Treasurer Council of Australasian Museum Directors, Board member, 
Committee for Ballarat, Advisory Group Member, Federation University 
Business School, Trustee of Ferry Family Charitable Trust, Member of Federal 
Government Regional Tourism Bushfire Recovery Grants Advisory Panel and 
VTIC Visitor Economy Recovery Taskforce.

Gerry Ryan OAM

Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016

Appointed Deputy Chairman 27 April 2020

Founder and owner of Jayco, Chairman of Global Creatures, and director  
of other tourism and leisure organisations. Director of Melbourne Storm  
Rugby League Club 

Name and
independence status

Experience, special responsibilities  
and other directorships

Lyell Strambi

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016, resigned 27 April 2020

Deputy Chair, Audit & Risk Committee member

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, Australia Pacific Airports 
Corporation, former Chief Executive Officer, Qantas Airways Domestic

Wai Tang

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016, resigned 14 February 2020

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Non-Executive Director for Vicinity Centres Ltd, JB HiFi Ltd and Melbourne 
Festival Ltd, Board member of Ovato Limited, Council Member of Monash  
Art Gallery

Deborah Beale AM

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 18 Jan 2018

Chair, Federation Square. Director, The Production Company. Director, Pinnacle 
Investment Management Ltd and Victorian Ports Corporation Ltd. Scholarship 
Trustee, Mary Jane Lewis Scholarship Fund.

Lewis Martin

Independent  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 20 Oct 2017

Seven Melbourne: Managing Director, Royal Children’s Hospital Good Friday 
Appeal: Board member, Royal Children’s Hospital Foundation: Director, Cure  
for MND Foundation: Director, Racing.com: Board member

Eddie McGuire AM

Independent  
Non-Executive Director                

Appointed on 31 May 2020

President, Collingwood Club. inaugural president, Big Bash League’s 
Melbourne Stars. Chairman, Michael Long Learning and Leadership 
Foundation. Board member, JAM TV Australia Pty Ltd and McGuire Media  
Pty Ltd. Directors of other media organisations.

Janette Kendall

Independent  
Non-Executive Director                

Appointed on 31 May 2020

Non-executive director, Vicinity Centres, Costa Group, Australian

Venue Co, KM Property Funds and the Melbourne Theatre Company

2.  Company Secretary

Mr Keith Herdman, Certified Practising Accountant, was appointed to the position of Company Secretary effective 
13 February 2017.
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Overview of the risk management system

The Board oversees the establishment and implementation of the consolidated entity’s Risk Management System. 
The Board has established and implemented the Audit & Risk Committee, with the role of assessing, monitoring 
and managing the operational, financial reporting and compliance risks for the consolidated entity.

7.  Environmental regulation

The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation.

8.  Ethical standards

Conflict of interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict  
with those of the Company. The Board has developed procedures to assist directors to disclose potential  
conflicts of interest. 

Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a Board matter, the director 
 concerned is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.

From time to time, the Directors receive invitations to events. Such events relate to marketing launches or  
are either part of the major events calendar or may be events of a similar or potential nature.  Such invitations 
are complimentary.  Directors are encouraged to accept such invitations given the nature of the business  
of the Company.  

9.  Company objectives, strategies and principal activities

Visit Victoria Limited (the ‘Company’) is a public company limited by guarantee that is incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, 
Victoria 3008. 

From its inception on 7 April 2016, the Company’s role for the Government of the State of Victoria has been to have 
a unified and dedicated approach to growing Victoria’s visitor economy through tourism marketing and event 
acquisition. A cohesive, new approach has been created to market Melbourne and Victoria to attract more visitors 
and world-class events to the state and consolidate Melbourne and Victoria’s position as a leading global tourism 
and events destination.

The Company is a not-for-profit entity and primarily is involved in providing tourism services as well as acquiring 
and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy.

10.  Financial review

The consolidated entity recorded a surplus of $5,802,425 (2019: $3,316,164 loss) for the year ended 30 June 2020. 
The surplus resulted from a significant reduction in grant expenditure as the Global community quickly became 
aware of the impact of Covid-19 and the importance of safety and health messaging. 

Revenue for the year was $106,615,441 (2019: $117,506,525). The reduction in revenue results partly from a clawback 
of State Government Grant funding as the Company reassessed its marketing campaigns and expenditure 
in light of the twin impacts bushfires and Covid-19 had on the visitor economy. Additionally, in 2019, State 
Government funding was recorded on a cash receipts (AASB 1004) accounting basis whereas the adoption of the 
new accounting revenue standards from 1 July 2019 required that current year income be recorded on an accrual 
or earned basis (AASB 15). 

3.  Directors’ meetings

Director Board meetings Audit and Risk  
Committee Meetings

Remuneration  
Committee Meetings

A B A B A B

Mr Paul Little AO 2 2 2 2

Ms Janet Whiting AM 8 8 1 2

Mr Chris Barlow 3 5 1 2

Mr Peter Crinis 7 8

Ms Helen Moran 8 8 5 5

Ms Sara Quon 7 8 4 5

Mr Gerry Ryan OAM 6 8

Mr Lyell Strambi 7 7 3 4

Ms Wai Tang 3 5 2 2

Ms Deborah Beale AM 7 8 4 4

Mr Lewis Martin 6 8

Ms Janette Kendall 1 1

Mr Eddie McGuire AM 1 1

A – Meetings attended        B – Meetings eligible attend

4.  Audit and Risk Committee

A documented charter was prepared for the Audit and Risk Committee and approved by the Board.  A minimum 
of three members is required and they must be independent, non-executive directors. The Chairperson may 
not be the Chairperson of the Board. The committee oversees and advises on the development and review of a 
framework of internal control for management of the consolidated entity.

The external auditors / internal auditors, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer are invited to attend 
Audit & Risk Committee meetings at the discretion of the Committee.

5.  Remuneration Committee

The Board established a Remuneration Committee with the objective for ensuring remuneration structures are 
equitable and aligned with the long-term interests of the Company. 

The Remuneration Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on remuneration and incentive 
arrangements for senior executives and executives reporting to the CEO.  The Remuneration Committee may 
consult with external advisers in the process of developing Visit Victoria’s remuneration framework.  

6.  Risk management

A risk management framework was approved by the Audit & Risk Committee and adopted by the Board for the 
consolidated entity. The framework was developed in consultation with external advisers to ensure it is consistent 
with the Australian Risk Management Standard with an internal control system in place to enable the executive to 
understand, manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures.  
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16.  Auditor’s independence declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 38 and forms part of the directors’ report for financial 
year ended 30 June 2020. 

This report is made with a resolution of the directors.

Ms Janet Whiting AM Ms Deborah Beale AM
Chairman Director

Dated at Melbourne this 12th day of October 2020

11.  Dividends

Under the Company’s constitution, no dividends are permitted to be paid to members of the Company..

12.  State of affairs

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity 
that occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in these financial statements.

13.  Likely developments

There are no likely developments that will influence the Company’s operations or the expected results of  
its operations.

Covid-19

The summer bushfires then Covid-19 have had devastating effects on the Victorian visitor economy. The tourism 
and hospitality industries and regional communities have been particularly impacted. The Company is acutely 
aware of the need to re-energise the State economy by leading the recovery efforts through powerful marketing 
campaigns and messages. While the Company paused its promotions during the second half of 19/20 it stands 
ready to launch and amplify its messaging once the go ahead is given by the State Government.

14.  Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 

Indemnification

Since its inception the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying against  
a liability any person who is or has been an Officer or Auditor of the Company.

Insurance premiums

During the financial year the Company has paid insurance premiums of $17,061 (2019: $15,307) in respect of 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. These insurance premiums related to insurance of Directors and 
Officers of the Company named in this report. The insurance policies outlined do not contain detail of the 
premium paid in respect of individual Directors and Officers of the Company. The insurance premiums relate to:

• costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and 
whatever their outcome; and

• other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty 
or improper use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.

15.  Member’s guarantee

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a Company limited by guarantee. If the 
Company is wound up, the constitution states that the member is required to contribute a maximum amount of 
$10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2020, the total amount that the 
member of the Company is liable to contribute if the Company wound up is $10 (2019: $10).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 30 June 2020

Note 2020
$

2019
$

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4.4 35,264,465 31,246,760

Trade and other receivables 5.1 2,543,722 3,359,716

Other assets 988,113 1,357,950

Total current assets 38,796,300 35,964,426

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 2,017,884 2,517,065

Right use of assets 4.2.1 6,443,619  -   

Intangible assets 4.3 623,878  620,976 

Other assets 27,566 27,569

Total non-current assets 9,112,947 3,165,610

Total assets 47,909,247 39,130,036

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5.2 24,054,061 12,987,141

Employee benefits 3.1.2 2,175,662 1,994,022

Lease Liabilities 4.2.2 1,804,171  -   

Total current liabilities 28,033,894 14,981,163

Lease Liabilities 4.2.2 4,829,716  -   

Employee benefits 3.1.2 395,370 287,271

Total non-current liabilities 5,225,086 287,271

Total liabilities 33,258,980 15,268,434

Net assets 14,650,267 23,861,602

Equity

Retained earnings 12,863,840 20,389,484

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 12,863,840 20,389,484

Non-controlling interest 1,786,427 3,472,118

Total equity 14,650,267 23,861,602

The notes on pages 52 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2020
$

2019
$

Operating revenue 2.1  106,615,441  117,506,525 

Employee benefit expenses 3.1.1  (21,341,777)  (19,751,534)

Marketing expenses  (35,109,302)  (35,600,608)

Grant payments  (38,387,679)  (60,496,676)

Administration expenses  (2,905,778)  (4,232,212)

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1,4.2,4.3  (3,048,242)  (1,089,117)

Net operating profit (loss)  5,822,663  (3,663,622)

Net finance (costs) / income 2.2  (20,238)  347,458 

Total comprehensive income / (loss)  5,802,425  (3,316,164)

Profit (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company  6,095,160  (2,765,878)

Non-controlling interests  (292,735)  (550,286)

 5,802,425  (3,316,164)

The notes on pages 52 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2020
$

2019
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers  119,584,205  132,786,532 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (109,235,477)  (131,705,755)

Interest income 2.2  147,232  347,458 

Net GST paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO)  (3,949,090)  (4,094,674)

Net cash from operating activities 4.4.1  6,546,870  (2,666,439)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 4.1, 4.3  (666,025)  (70,962)

Net cash used in investing activities  (666,025)  (70,962)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of interest on finance lease liability 2.2  (167,470)  -   

Payment of finance lease liability 4.2.2  (1,695,670)  -   

Net cash used in financing activities  (1,863,140)  -   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  4,017,705  (2,737,401)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July  31,246,760  33,984,161 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June  35,264,465  31,246,760 

The notes on pages 52 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note Retained 
earnings                        

$

Non-controlling 
interest                            

$

Total equity                        
$

Restated balance as at 1 July 2018  23,155,362  4,022,404  27,177,766 

Total comprehensive income  (2,765,878)  (550,286)  (3,316,164)

Balance at 30 June 2019  20,389,484  3,472,118  23,861,602 

Adjustment due to AASB 15 and AASB 1058 1.1  (14,006,008)  (1,392,956)  (15,398,964)

Adjustment due to AASB 16 1.2  385,204  -    385,204 

Total comprehensive profit (loss)  6,095,160  (292,735)  5,802,425 

Balance at 30 June 2020  12,863,840  1,786,427  14,650,267 

The Company has initially applied AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers and AASB 1058 Income of not 
for profit entities using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The comparatives have 
been prepared using, AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 1004 Contributions and related interpretations.

The Company has initially applied AASB 16 Leases using the cumulative effect method and has not restated 
comparatives. The comparatives have been prepared using, AASB 117 Leases and related interpretations.

The notes on pages 52 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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About this report

Visit Victoria Limited (‘the Company’) is a not for profit company limited by guarantee incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia at the year ended 30 June 2020.

The Company’s registered office is at Collins Square Tower Two, Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria, 
Australia 3008.

The Company was registered with effect from 7 April 2016 and commenced operations from 1 July 2016. 
Operations of the Company including its subsidiary were consolidated into new premises at Collins Square  
on 2 December 2016. 

The Company operates in one industry and geographic segment being primarily involved in providing tourism 
services as well as acquiring and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy. 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiary (collectively the ‘Group’ and 
individually ‘Group companies’).

On 13 August 2015, the Victorian State Government announced that, in response to the Victorian Visitor Economy 
review, it intended to establish Visit Victoria Limited to drive growth in the visitor economy. The Company brought 
together the operations of the two government-controlled entities of Tourism Victoria (TV) and the Victorian Major 
Events Company Ltd (VMEC). Agreement was also reached with the members of Melbourne Convention Bureau 
Ltd (MCB) on 23 May 2016 that the Company would be allocated 51% voting rights in Melbourne Convention 
Bureau Ltd with its members retaining the remaining 49% voting rights. On 1 July 2016, Visit Victoria assumed 
responsibility of all tourism marketing and major events functions undertaken by TV and VMEC. VMEC was 
deregistered on 3 September 2019.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional 
currency and have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise stated.

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the relevant contract  
rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign monetary items at reporting date are translated at the 
exchange rate existing at reporting date. Non-monetary assets carried at fair value that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair  
value was determined.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise stated. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes continuity 
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course  
of business.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates  
and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts  
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are  
recognised prospectively.

Basis of consolidation

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the 
Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable 
net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

The combination of Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd was achieved through the allocation of 51% voting rights to 
Visit Victoria Ltd without the transfer of any consideration. 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated. 

Non-controlling interests

As outlined in above, through the allocation of 51% voting rights, Visit Victoria Limited has control of Melbourne 
Convention Bureau Limited. However, Visit Victoria Limited is not entitled to any financial return from its 
involvement with Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd during its operation nor does it have any certainty  
to entitlement to any financial return at the time of the winding up of Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd. 
Accordingly non-controlling interests have been assessed at 100%. 

Goods and services tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet.

Income tax

The consolidated entity is exempt from income tax under section 24AS of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

Compliance information

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared  
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. They were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  
12 October 2020. Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in these notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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(ii) Financial statement impact of adoption of AASB 16

The Group has recognised right-of-use assets of $8,329,557 and lease liabilities of $8,329,557 at 1 July 2019, for 
leases previously classified as operating leases. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate 
applied to lease liabilities at 1 July 2019 was 2.21%. Refer Note 4.2 Right of Use Asset and Lease Liabilities.

$

Operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 financial statements  8,762,552 

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (432,995)

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019  8,329,557 

2.  Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns, trade allowances and rebates.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the entity’s activities as 
described below.

2.1 Operating Revenue

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Grants

Operational grants received from the Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions (DJPR) and other 
Departments from the State Government of Victoria are recognised as income when the Group gains control 
of the underlying assets (AASB 1058). Grants received in connection with major events, business events and 
regional events are recognised as income when the Group has satisfied its performance obligations under  
the terms of the grant (AASB 15).  

(ii) Industry co-operative revenue

The amount recognised for co-operative ventures refers to funds directly received for activities such as 
brochure participation and co-operative marketing.  Funds from co-operative venture participants are 
recognised when received or due and receivable, except where received in respect of the following financial 
year.  Funds received prior to activities having taken place are recognised as Income in Advance.

(iii)  In-kind contributions

In-kind contributions that are non-reciprocal transfers to the Group are recognised at their fair value as both 
income and expenditure when received, where fair value is determined with reference to similar goods and 
services. 

(iv) Membership contributions 

Membership contribution are recognised when received or due and receivable, except where received in 
respect of the following financial year.

(v) Advertising and marketing revenue

Advertising and marketing revenue is recognised when received or receivable.

(vi) Other income

Other income is recognised when received or receivable and includes booth/participation fee income, 
reimbursements from external organisations, co-operative ventures income and value applied to event 
hospitality provided to other bodies on a contract basis and other miscellaneous income.

1.  Change in accounting policy

1.1 Revenue recognition

The Group has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for Profit 
Entities for the first time in the current year with a date of initial application of 1 July 2019.

The Group has applied AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using the cumulative effect method which means the comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 1004 
Contributions and related interpretations. All adjustments on adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 have been 
taken to retained earnings at 1 July 2019.

The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies from applying AASB 15 and AASB 1058 are described below.

(i) State Government funding DJPR

Under AASB 1004, grant income was recognised as revenue on receipt. Under AASB 1058 and AASB 15, where 
an agreement is enforceable and contains sufficiently specific performance obligations, the revenue is either 
recognised over time as the work is performed or recognised at the point in time that the control of the 
services pass to the customer.

Having reviewed the terms and conditions of grants received by the Group, some of them are within the scope 
of AASB 1058 and others within AASB 15 which has resulted in deferral of revenue for these monies.

(ii) Principal vs Agent 

Prior to the adoption of AASB15, the Group assessed there were a principal in transactions where another party 
was involved in providing the services particularly where monies were received with the intention of passing 
them through to another entity. Under AASB 15, the indicators of a principal have changed and there are now 
a number of performance obligations within grant agreements where the Group is acting as Agent. The result 
is the Group can no longer recognise excesses of grant receipts over grant payments in retained earnings but 
rather as liabilities in the statement of financial position as the Group has no claim to surpluses arising from 
certain grant agreements.     

(iii) Change to retained earnings

The Group has applied the cumulative effect method on initial adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058. As a result, 
comparative information in these accounts has not been restated. The Group instead elected to quantify 
the financial impact of this change in accounting policy and adjust retained earnings directly. The initial 
application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 resulted in a reduction to retained earnings of $15,398,964 which is 
presented as an adjustment to opening retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
in the 2020 financial statements.     

1.2 Leases

The Group has adopted AASB 16 Leases using the modified retrospective (cumulative catch-up) method from 1 
July 2019 and therefore the comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2020 has not been restated and 
has been prepared in accordance with AASB 117 Leases and associated Accounting Interpretations.

(i) The impact of adopting AASB 16 is described below:

Under AASB 117, the Group assessed whether leases were operating or finance leases based on its assessment 
of whether the significant risks and rewards of ownership had been transferred to the Group or remained with 
the lessor. 

Under AASB 16, there is no differentiation between finance and operating leases for the lessee and therefore 
all leases which meet the definition of a lease are recognised in the statement of financial position (except 
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). The Group has elected to use the exception to lease 
accounting for short-term leases and leases of low value assets, and the lease expense relating to these leases 
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis.   
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2.1 Operating Revenue - continued

2020
$

2019
$

State Government funding – DJPR 99,374,205 109,149,521

State Government funding – MCET 1,800,500 1,772,143

Other Government funding 509,375 2,041,862

Industry co-operative revenue 1,700,664 807,240

In-kind contribution 83,600 83,130

Membership revenue 650,579 1,054,681

Advertising sales revenue 995,875 85,010

Other miscellaneous Income 1,500,643 2,512,938

Operating revenue 106,615,441 117,506,525

DJPR: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions.

MCET: Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Trust

2.2 Finance income and finance costs

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

• interest income;

• the net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and

• interest expense on finance leases / lease liability. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method which allocates the interest over the 
relevant period.

2020
$

2019
$

Interest income on bank deposit 147,232 350,479

Interest expense on finance lease / lease liability (167,470) (3,021)

Net Finance Income /(expense) (20,238) 347,458

3. Expenses

3.1 Employee benefits

The employee benefit below is discounted to determine its present value. Re-measurements are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the 
amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as 
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided.  

(iii) Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. 

3.1.1 Employee benefits in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

Employee expenses are recognised when incurred. These expenses include all costs related to employment 
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments and workers 
compensation insurance premiums.

Superannuation contributions are made by the Group to an employee superannuation fund and are charged 
as expenses when incurred. The Group has paid contributions of $1,385,543 (2019: $1,318,337) to defined 
contribution superannuation plans on behalf of employees for the year ended 30 June 2020.

The Group contributes to the State Superannuation Fund (revised and new) defined benefit plan in Australia. 
The Group does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of this plan because the Group has no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s 
defined benefit liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However, superannuation contributions paid 
or payable for the Group’s employees for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or consolidated statement of 
financial position respectively.  

2020
$

2019
$

Wages and salary and associated on costs 18,538,697 16,994,188

Workcover expense 49,557 28,540

Annual leave expense 1,079,982 1,157,618

Contributions to defined contribution plans 1,385,543 1,318,337

Contributions to defined benefit plans 43,207 42,994

Long service leave expense 244,791 209,857

21,341,777 19,751,534
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3.1.2 Employee benefits in consolidated statement of financial position

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long 
service leave (LSL) and other leave entitlements for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as 
an expense during the period the services are delivered.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits 
is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision 
is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking 
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money 
and risks specific to the provision.

2020
$

2019
$

Provision for annual leave 1,172,659 973,930

Provision for long service leave 1,321,995 1,182,161

Provision for others 76,378 125,202

2,571,032 2,281,293

Current 2,175,662 1,994,022

Non-current 395,370 287,271

2,571,032 2,281,293

Provision for others includes provision for staff performance achievements and other leave entitlements including 
Ignite Day.

4. Assets 

The Group owns and controls software and equipment as well as cash that are utilised in fulfilling its  
objectives. They represent the resources that are entrusted to the Group to be utilised for the delivery  
of the business activities. 

4.1 Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.  

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual 
values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

4.1 Property, plant and equipment - continue

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows, consistent from previous  
financial year:

leased plant       5   years

leasehold improvements 3 – 7   years

plant and equipment 3 – 12 years

fixtures and fittings 5 – 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted  
if appropriate.

(iii) Leasehold Improvements

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold properties is amortised over the unexpired period of the lease,  
or the estimated useful life of the improvement to the Group, whichever is shorter

Fixtures 
and fittings

$

Leasehold 
improvements

$

Plant and 
equipment

$
Leased plant

$
 Total 

$

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2018  751,398  3,017,155  632,588  32,480  4,433,621 

Additions  -    -    31,741  -    31,741 

Balance at 30 June 2018  751,398  3,017,155  664,329  32,480  4,465,362 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2018  169,004  680,435  323,424  27,772  1,200,635 

Depreciation  107,342  431,022  205,804  3,496  747,664 

Balance at 30 June 2019  276,346  1,111,457  529,228  31,268  1,948,299 

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2019  475,052  1,905,698  135,102  1,212  2,517,065 

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2019  751,398  3,017,155  664,329  32,480  4,465,362 

Additions  121,184  -    50,292  -    171,476 

Disposals  -    -    -   (32,480) (32,480)

Balance at 30 June 2020  872,582  3,017,155  714,621  -    4,604,358 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2019  276,346  1,111,457  529,228  31,268  1,948,299 

Depreciation  122,516  431,023  115,904  1,212  670,654 

Disposals  -    -    -   (32,480) (32,480)

Balance at 30 June 2020  398,862  1,542,480  645,132  -    2,586,473 

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2019  475,052  1,905,698  135,102  1,212  2,517,065 

At 30 June 2020  473,720  1,474,675  69,489  -    2,017,884 
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4.2 Right of use asset and lease liability

AASB 16 came into effect for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, The Group adopted the 
change from 1 July 2019. This adoption brings lease expenses onto the balance sheet and result in increased 
levels of reported assets (Right of use Asset) and liabilities (Lease Liability).

4.2.1 Right of use asset

Right of use assets is measured at the net present value (NPV) of the total lease payment for the remaining life 
of the lease.

The Group recognise the Right of Use Assets for the lease of Melbourne head office at Collins Square Tower 
Two, Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia 3008. And it is amortised over 53 months from 
July 2019 till November 2023. (remaining lease periods) 

Right of use assets

2020
$

Cost 

Initial adoption of AASB16 from 1 July  8,329,557 

Additions  -   

Balance at 30 June  8,329,557 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July  -   

Amortisation  1,885,937 

Balance at 30 June  1,885,937 

Carrying amounts

At 30 June  6,443,619 

4.2.2 Lease liability

Lease liability is calculated by taking the present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted 
using the interest rate recommended by the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

Lease payment incudes interest payment of $167,470 and payment to lease liability of $1,695,670.

Lease Liability

2020
$

Initial adoption of AASB16 from 1 July  8,329,557 

Interest expense  167,470 

Lease payment (1,863,140)

Balance at 30 June  6,633,887 

Current  1,804,171 

Non Current  4,829,716 

Total as at 30 June  6,633,887 

4.3 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  Subsequently, those intangible assets with finite useful lives  
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates.  

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using  
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows, consistent with previous financial year:

• Computer software 2 – 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate.

Computer software

2020
$

2019
$

Cost 

Balance at 1 July  1,176,730  1,137,511 

Additions  494,550  39,219 

Balance at 30 June  1,671,280  1,176,730 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July  555,754  214,301 

Amortisation  491,648  341,453 

Balance at 30 June  1,047,402  555,754 

Carrying amounts

At 30 June  623,878  620,976 

4.4 Cash and Cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalent recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank 
and deposits at call with other financial institutions.

2020
$

2019
$

Bank balances 35,264,465 31,246,760

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 35,264,465 31,246,760
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5.2 Payables

2020
$

2019
$

Trade payables due to related parties  -   44,000

Trade payables 644,666 3,637,495

Accrued expenses 3,390,444 8,070,016

Trade payables 4,035,110 11,751,511

Income in advance 20,443,560 242,964

Other payables (424,609) 992,666

Other payables 20,018,951 1,235,630

Total Payable 24,054,061 12,987,141

Current 24,054,061 12,987,141

Non-current  -    -   

Total 24,054,061 12,987,141

Payables consist of:

Trade payables, such as accounts payable, are classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised 
cost (refer to Note 7.7.2 for further details). Trade payable represents liabilities for goods or services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Group becomes obliged to 
make future payments in respect of the purchases of goods and services

Income in advance: consists of amounts received during the year which relates to activities to be conducted 
in future financial years. Revenue is recognised only when the Group has satisfied its performance obligations 
under the terms of the grant and the remaining amount has been deferred in liability until satisfaction of the 
performance obligation.

Other payables: include GST, VAT, payroll tax, PAYG withholding, FBT and other provision provided as at 30 June.  

6. Commitments, risks and contingencies

The Group is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make 
judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the consolidated financial 
statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) 
as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for 
the Group relate mainly to fair value determination.

6.1 Commitments for expenditure

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts.  
These commitments are disclosed by way of a note at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable.

4.4.1 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

2020
$

2019
$

Profit / (loss) for the year  5,802,425  (3,316,164)

Adjustments for:

  Bad debts provision  197,315  -   

  Depreciation on property, plant & equipment  670,657  747,664 

  Amortisation on intangible asset  491,648  341,453 

  Amortisation on right use of assets  1,885,937  -   

 9,047,982  (2,227,047)

Decrease in trade and other receivables  618,679  2,549,034 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets  369,837  (870,407)

(Decrease) in trade and other payables  (3,779,367)  (1,795,879)

(Decrease)/increase in employee benefits  289,739  (322,140)

Net cash provided/ (used) by operating activities  6,546,870  (2,666,439)

4.5 Other assets 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments, work in progress and deposit. 

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made  
in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

Work in progress relates to the Group’s website development which will be capitalised when the work is finalised.

Deposit represents the deposit for the overseas office rental arrangements. 

5. Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Group’s operations.

5.1 Receivables

2020
$

2019
$

Trade receivables due from related parties 1,395,439 1,679,900

Trade receivables 1,190,613 875,712

Provision for impairment (197,315) (5,407)

Other receivables 154,985 809,511

2,543,722 3,359,716

Current 2,543,722 3,359,716

Non-Current  -    -   

2,543,722 3,359,716

Receivables consist predominantly of debtors in relation to goods and services.

Trade receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as “financial assets at amortised 
costs”. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. The Group holds 
the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
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6.2 Financial instruments Fair values and risk management

6.2.1 Accounting classifications and fair values

The financial instruments held by the consolidated entity at the reporting date were non-derivative financial 
assets (trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents) and non-derivative financial liabilities (trade 
and other payables). For all of these financial instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation 
of fair value because of their short-term maturity and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

2019 Note

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents
$

Financial 
assets/liabilities 

measured 
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income
$

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

$

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
costs

$
Total

$

Contractual 
financial assets 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 4.4 31,246,760  -    -    -   31,246,760

Receivables 5.1  -    -   3,359,716  -   3,359,716

Total contractual 
financial assets 31,246,760  -   3,359,716  -   34,606,476

Contractual financial 
liabilities

Payables 5.2  -    -    -   12,987,141 12,987,141

Total contractual 
financial liabilities  -    -    -   12,987,141 12,987,141

2020

Cash and cash 
equivalents 4.4 35,264,465  -    -    -   35,264,465

Receivables 5.1  -    -   2,543,722  -   2,543,722

Total contractual 
financial assets 35,264,465  -   2,543,722  -   37,808,187

Contractual financial 
liabilities

Payables 5.2  -    -    -   24,054,061 24,054,061

Lease liability 4.2.2  -    -    -   6,633,887 6,633,887

Total contractual 
financial liabilities  -    -    -   30,687,948 30,687,948

6.1.1 Grant Commitments 

Commitments for the payment of grants under contracts in existence at the reporting date but not recognised 
as liabilities and payable are: 

2020
$

2019
$

Funding

Less than one year 42,398,910 23,684,333

Between one and five years 42,043,566 27,931,782

More than five years 2,653,750 6,173,750

Total 87,096,226 57,789,865

6.1.2 Other Commitments

Commitments for the payment of other expenditure under contract in existence at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities and payable are:

2020
$

2019
$

Others

Less than one year  3,302,591  3,025,509 

Between one and five years  665,275  851,164 

More than five years  -    -   

Total  3,967,866  3,876,673 
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6.3 Financial risk management - continue

 
 

 
Carrying 
amount

$

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
$

Past due but not impaired
Past due and 

impaired  
3 months  

 -1 year
$

Less than  
1 month

$ 
1-3 months

$

3 months  
- 1 year

$

30 June 2019 
Trade and other 
receivables  3,359,716  2,423,498  888,712  42,099  5,407 

 3,359,716  2,423,498  888,712  42,099  -    5,407 

30 June 2020 
Trade and other 
receivables  2,543,722  518,560  1,148,418  718,953  157,791  -   

 2,543,722  518,560  1,148,418  718,953  157,791  -   

 
Current

$

Less than  
1 month

$
1-3 months

$

3 months  
- 1 year

$

More than 
1 year

$
Total 

$

1 July 2019

Expected loss rate  -    -   100%

Gross carrying amount  
of receivables  2,423,498  888,712  42,099  5,407  3,359,716 

Loss allowance  -    -    -    -    5,407  5,407 

30 June 2020

Expected loss rate 36%  -   1% 3%  -   

Gross carrying amount  
of receivables  518,560  1,148,418  718,953  157,791  -    2,543,722 

Loss allowance  186,150  -    6,325  4,840 

 
(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group typically ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet 
expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential 
impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted.

6.2.2  Measurement of fair values

No financial instruments are held at fair value, however, should items be held at fair value in the future the 
Group’s policy for determining the fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities  
is as follows: 

•  The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions are traded on 
active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

•  The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models on discounted cash flow analysis.

6.3 Financial risk management 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

• credit risk (see (ii))

• liquidity risk (see (iii))

• currency risk (see (iv))

(i) Risk Management framework

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group,  
to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 
The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined 
and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group has an Audit and Risk Committee who oversees the internal and external audit functions and 
monitor the group’s internal control and compliance framework. The Audit and Risk Committee also monitors 
compliance with the group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to risks faced by the consolidated entity.

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.  

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents, including other assets, of $35,264,465 (2019: $31,246,760) at 30 June 
2020, which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held 
with financial institution counterparties with strong credit ratings.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor. The 
Group does not operate as a ‘trading’ entity and trade receivables relate to sundry receivables from a small 
number of counterparties.  As at 30 June 2020, there is $197,315 allowance for impairment. (2019: $5,407).

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
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30 June 2020

 NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY

Cash and cash equivalents  9,829  76,137  63,538  119,459  64,528  147,652 

Trade receivables  -    -   

Financial assets  9,829  76,137  63,538  119,459  64,528  147,652 

Trade payables  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Net exposure  9,829  76,137  63,538  119,459  64,528  147,652 

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the AUD, NZD, USD, EUR, GBP, SGD, JPY or CNY against  
all other currencies at 30 June would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated  
in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales  
and purchases.

Sensitivity analysis Profit or loss Equity

30 June 2019 10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

NZD  28,673  (28,673)  28,673  (28,673)

USD  8,620  (8,620)  8,620  (8,620)

EUR  16,028  (16,028)  16,028  (16,028)

GBP  46,277  (46,277)  46,277  (46,277)

SGD  6,586  (6,586)  6,586  (6,586)

JPY  6,339  (6,339)  6,339  (6,339)

 112,522  (112,522)  112,522  (112,522)

Profit or loss Equity

30 June 2020 10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

NZD  983  (983)  983  (983)

USD  7,614  (7,614)  7,614  (7,614)

EUR  6,354  (6,354)  6,354  (6,354)

GBP  11,946  (11,946)  11,946  (11,946)

SGD  6,453  (6,453)  6,453  (6,453)

JPY  14,765  (14,765)  14,765  (14,765)

 48,114  (48,114)  48,114  (48,114)

6.3 Financial risk management - continue

Exposure to liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date.  The amounts 
are gross and undiscounted. 

 
 

 
Carrying 
amount

$

 
Nominal 
amount

$

Past due but not impaired

0-1 year
$

1-2 years
$

2-5 years
$

More than 
5 years

$

30 June 2019

Trade and other payables  12,744,177  12,744,177  12,744,177  -    -    -   

Income in advance  242,964  242,964  242,964  -    -    -   

  12,987,141  12,987,141  12,987,141  -    -    -   

 

30 June 2020

Trade and other payables  3,610,501  3,610,501  3,610,501  -    -    -   

Income in advance
 

20,443,560 
 

20,443,560 
 

20,443,560  -    -    -   

 6,633,887  6,633,887  1,804,171  2,082,053  2,747,663 

  30,687,948  30,687,948  25,858,232  2,082,053  2,747,663  -   

(iv) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which 
transactions are denominated and the respective functional currency of Group companies. The functional 
currency of Group companies is the Australian dollar (AUD). The currencies in which these transactions 
are primarily denominated are New Zealand dollar (NZD), US dollar (USD), Euro (EUR), Pound sterling (GBP), 
Singapore dollar (SGD) Japanese yen (JPY) and Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY).

Exposure to currency risk

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management  
of the Group is as follows.

30 June 2019

 NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY

Cash and cash equivalents  286,732  86,200  160,275  462,771  65,857  63,388 

Trade receivables  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial assets  286,732  86,200  160,275  462,771  65,857  63,388 

Trade payables  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Net exposure  286,732  86,200  160,275  462,771  65,857  63,388 
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7.1.1 Significant transactions with government related entities

Visit Victoria Ltd received funding and made payments (GST inclusive) to DJPR of $106,930,169  
(2019: $117,875,473) and $2,656,986 (2019: $99,332) respectively. 

During the reporting year, the Group had the following government related entity transactions

2020
$

2019
$

DJPR - State Government Funding  106,930,169  131,033,095 

DJPR- Contributions  (2,656,986)  (99,332)

 104,273,183  130,933,763 

Department of Premier and Cabinet  5,379  2,189,000 

Victorian Managed Insurance Authority  136,162  136,798 

Treasury Corporation of Victoria  -    130,899 

7.1.2 Transactions with key management personnel

7.1.2.1 Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel compensation was paid to the executive office bearers of the Group. Directors 
of the Group are not remunerated for performing director duties of the Group.

The key management personnel compensation comprised the following

2020
$

2019
$

Short-term employee benefits  2,381,122  3,217,687 

Post-employment benefits  149,177  199,511 

Other long-term benefits  123,397  80,806 

 2,653,696  3,498,004 

Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel includes salaries and non-cash benefits.

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are 
usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or 
subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis 
when employment has ceased.

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation.

(v)  Interest rate risk

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management 
of the Group is as follows.

Nominal amount
2020

$

Nominal amount
2019

$

Fixed-rate instruments (weighted average interest rate)  -   1.3%

Financial assets  -    1,789,265 

Financial liabilities  -    -   

  -    1,789,265 

Variable-rate instruments  (weighted average interest rate) 0.21% 0.43%

Financial assets  35,264,465  28,326,844 

Financial liabilities  -    -   

 35,264,465  28,326,844 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss or equity

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

For each change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or (decreased) 
the Group’s equity and profit or loss by $352,645 (2019: $283,268). This analysis assumes that all other variables,  
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

6.4 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position, but are 
disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented 
inclusive of GST.

There are no contingent assets or liabilities for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil)

7. Other Disclosures

7.1 Related parties

Visit Victoria Ltd is an entity wholly owned by the Premier of Victoria, funding predominately provided by the 
Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions (DJPR). Related parties of Visit Victoria Ltd are considered to include:

• all key management personnel and their close family members;

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

•  all departments and public-sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state 
consolidated financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.
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7.2 Auditors’ remuneration

2020
$

2019
$

Audit and review services

Victorian Auditor General's Office

  Audit and review of financial statements - Company  77,000  75,000 

  Audit and review of financial statements - Subsidiary  42,000  41,000 

 119,000  116,000 

There were no other services provided by the auditor of the Group’s annual report during the financial period.

7.3 Subsequent events

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Group, to affect 
significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in 
future financial years.

7.4 Australian accounting standards issued that are not yet effective

Certain new and revised accounting standards have been issued but are not effective for the 2019-20 reporting 
period. These accounting standards have not been applied to the Financial Statements. The Group is reviewing 
its existing policies and assessing the potential implications of these accounting standards which include:

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material

This Standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. It applies to reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. The Group has not earlier adopted the Standard.

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current  
or Non- Current

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities in the statement of 
financial position as current or non-current. It initially applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted however the AASB has recently issued ED 301 Classification  
of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current – Deferral of Effective Date with the intention to defer the application  
by 1 year to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Group will not early adopt the Standard. 

7.1.2.2 Key management personnel and director transactions

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that  
result in them having control or significant influence over these companies.

A number of these companies transacted with the Group during the Year. The terms and conditions of  
these transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected 
to be available, in similar transactions with non-key management personnel related companies on an arm’s 
length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and 
entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.

Related parties (key management personnel  
and Directors’ transactions)

Transaction values for  
the year ending 30 June

Balance outstanding  
as at 30 June

2020 2019 2020 2019

Peter Crinis Crown Melbourne - receipt 200

Crown Melbourne - payment  (24,397)  (24,226)  2,400 

Gerry Ryan OAM Global Creatures - payment  (550,000)  (825,000)  -   

Melbourne Storm Rugby 
League Club - payment  (154,000)

Mitchelton Winery and  
Hotel - payment  (1,203)

Gumbaya World - Receipt  250 

Janet Whiting AM
National Gallery of  
Victoria - receipts  62,846  44,000 

National Gallery of  
Victoria - payment  (1,648,493)  (1,815,053)

Deborah Beale AM
Victorian Ports Corporation 
Limited - payment  (2,558)  -   

Federation Square - payment  (8,189)  -    -   

Sara Quon Sovereign Hill - receipt  1,410  26,162  2,500 

Sovereign Hill - payment  (3,960)  (2,213)

Lyell Strambi Melbourne Airport - payment  (75,000)  -    -   

Melbourne Airport - receipt  128,989 

Lewis Martin Seven Melbourne - payment  (17,600)  -   

Eddie McGuire AM
JAM TV Australia Pty Ltd  
- payment  (4,928)  -    -    -   

Other than compensation noted at 7.2.2.1 above there were no related party transactions involving executives of 
the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Visit Victoria Limited (‘the Company’), I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited (the Company):

(a)     the financial statements and notes, set out on pages pages 48 to 73, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)     giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the consolidated entity  
as at 30 June 2020 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii)    complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)     there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

Dated at Melbourne this 12th day of October 2020.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors on behalf of the Board.

__________________________ __________________________

Ms Janet Whiting AM Ms Deborah Beale AM
Chairman  Director

 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

 no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
20 October 2020 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Other 
Information 

The Directors of the company are responsible for the Other Information, which 
comprises the information in the company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 
2020 but does not include the financial report and my auditor’s report thereon.   

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the Other Information and 
accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion on the Other 
Information. However, in connection with my audit of the financial report, my 
responsibility is to read the Other Information and in doing so, consider whether it is 
materially inconsistent with the financial report or the knowledge I obtained during the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, I am 
required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors' 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report  

The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of a financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the 
company and the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I 
also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control 
                        

 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Visit Victoria Limited (the company) 
and its controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

• consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020 
• consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for 

the year then ended 
• consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• directors' declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and the 
consolidated entity as at 30 June 2020 and of their financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended 

• complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the company and the consolidated entity in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report 
in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

I confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, 
which has been given to the Directors of the company, would be in the same terms if 
given to the Directors as at the time of this auditor's report. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my opinion. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 
(continued) 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company and 
the consolidated entity’s internal control  

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the 
Directors  

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company and the consolidated entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 
opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the company and the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities and business activities within the company and the consolidated 
entity to express an opinion on the financial report. I am responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the company and the 
consolidated entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

I communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

I also provide the Directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards 

 
 

  

MELBOURNE 
20 October 2020 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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